THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2020-CP-10-02398
Appellate Case No. 2021-000779

Whitesides Park Townhomes Property Owners Association, Inc.,

Respondent,

v.

CalAtlantic Group, Inc., f/k/a The Ryland Group, Inc., f/k/a Standard Pacific Corp.
and also d/b/a CalAtlantic Homes; Lennar Carolinas, LLC, Southend Exteriors,
Inc., Alpha Omega Construction Group, Inc., Fogel Services Inc., Graciela Razo
Rodile, and Melinda Rios Amador,

Of which CalAtlantic Group, Inc., f/k/a The Ryland Group, Inc., f/k/a

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

I. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING CALATLANTIC AND LENNAR'S MOTION TO COMPEL ARBITRATION.

A. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN HOLDING THAT CALATLANTIC AND LENNAR MAY NOT COMPEL THE ASSOCIATION TO ARBITRATE CLAIMS PURSUANT TO THE ARBITRATION PROVISION IN THE PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENTS BECAUSE THE INDIVIDUAL OWNERS ARE NOT THE PLAINTIFFS IN THE ACTION AND ARE NOT SUING FOR DAMAGES ASSOCIATED WITH THEIR INDIVIDUAL UNITS—ALTHOUGH THE ASSOCIATION EXPRESSLY ALLEGES IT IS “CHARGED WITH PURSUING CLAIMS ENUMERATED [IN THE COMPLAINT] BY VIRTUE OF HAVING BEEN ASSIGNED INDIVIDUAL CLAIMS BY THE INDIVIDUAL TOWNHOME OWNERS AT THIS PROJECT?”

B. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN HOLDING THAT “ANY ASSERTION THAT THE ASSOCIATION IS BOUND TO THE ARBITRATION PROVISIONS IN [THE PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENTS] IS WITHOUT MERIT”—ALTHOUGH: (1) THE ASSOCIATION EXPRESSLY ALLEGES IT IS “CHARGED WITH PURSUING CLAIMS ENUMERATED [IN THE COMPLAINT] BY VIRTUE OF HAVING BEEN ASSIGNED INDIVIDUAL CLAIMS BY THE INDIVIDUAL TOWNHOME OWNERS AT THIS PROJECT;” (2) ASSERTS A CAUSE OF ACTION FOR BREACH OF THE IMPLIED WARRANTY OF HABITABILITY WHICH, AS A MATTER OF LAW, ARISES EXCLUSIVELY FROM THE SALE OF THE TOWNHOMES TO THE INDIVIDUAL TOWNHOME OWNERS BY MEANS OF THE PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENTS; AND (3) ASSERTS CLAIMS AND DAMAGES IN THE ACTION RELATED TO DOORS, WINDOWS AND HVAC SYSTEMS, WHICH ARE EXPRESSLY DEFINED BY THE GOVERNING DOCUMENTS FOR THE PROPERTY TO BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE INDIVIDUAL TOWNHOME OWNERS AND NOT COMMON ELEMENTS FOR THE ASSOCIATION?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal addresses the issue of whether a developer—CalAtlantic Group, Inc.¹ (“CalAtlantic”)—may compel arbitration of the construction defect claims asserted by the property owners association of a townhome project—the Whitesides Park Townhomes Property Owners Association, Inc. (the “Association”)—which the Association alleges have been assigned to it from the individual townhome owners (the “Owners”). Specifically, whether CalAtlantic may compel arbitration of the claims assigned by the Owners to the Association pursuant to the arbitration provisions in the Purchase and Sale Agreements executed by and between the Owners and CalAtlantic and through which the Owners acquired their interests in the townhomes.

The townhomes at issue in this construction litigation are located in a development known as Whitesides Park. (R. 28-29). Whitesides Park is comprised of thirteen (13) townhomes situated in four (4) buildings. (R. 29). On September 8, 2016, the Association and CalAtlantic executed the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions and Easements for Whitesides Park (the “Covenants”). (R. 71). By virtue of those Covenants, the Association was created and acquired its interests, rights and obligations concerning the common elements of the property. The Covenants define the scope of common elements—referred to in the Covenants as “Areas of Common Responsibility”—that are to be maintained by the Association and state that the Owners shall be responsible for the maintenance, repair and replacement of certain elements, including the windows, window casings, window shutters, exterior doors, door frames, and the heating and air conditioning systems serving the Owners’ townhomes. (R. 86-89).

¹ The Complaint collectively identifies CalAtlantic Group, Inc. f/k/a The Ryland Group, Inc. f/k/a Standard Pacific Corp. and also d/b/a Cal Atlantic Homes. (R. 28). CalAtlantic Group, Inc. was formed when The Ryland Group, Inc. merged with Standard Pacific Corp in September 2015. For the purpose of this appeal, The Ryland Group, Inc., Standard Pacific Corp. and CalAtlantic are collectively referred to as CalAtlantic. In 2017, CalAtlantic was acquired by Lennar Corporation.

The buildings were constructed and the townhome units were sold to the individual Owners between May 2016 and March 2018. Each Owner entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement with CalAtlantic by which the Owner acquired ownership of a unit. (R. 761-853). Each Purchase and Sale Agreement executed by the individual Owners contains a valid and enforceable agreement to arbitrate any disputes or claims related to the properties. (R. 157-160; 765-766).² Specifically, each of the Purchase and Sale Agreements executed by the individual Owners requires the individual owner to arbitrate any and all claims or disputes arising out of or in any way relating to the Purchase and Sale Agreement, the property, or the construction of the property. (R. 157-160; 765-766).

On June 1, 2020, the Association filed a Complaint asserting various construction defect claims against CalAtlantic, Lennar, and certain subcontractors who were allegedly involved with the construction of the Whitesides Townhomes (collectively, the “Defendants”). In the Complaint, the Association specifically alleges:

Whitesides POA is charged with, inter alia, the management and administration of Whitesides Park, the investigation, maintenance and repair of Whitesides Park’s common elements, and has the right and authority to bring this action on behalf of the Whitesides POA and its members and **is also charged with pursuing claims enumerated hereafter by virtue of having been assigned individual claims by townhome owners at this project.**

(R. 29) (emphasis added). The claims that are “enumerated hereafter” in the Complaint include claims for: (1) Negligence, Gross Negligence, Carelessness, Recklessness, Willfulness and

² The thirteen original owners each executed one of three Purchase and Sale Agreements. Five of the original owners executed CalAtlantic Purchase and Sale Agreements of which there are two versions; however, each version contains the same agreement to arbitrate. The remaining eight original owners executed a Ryland Homes Purchase and Sale Agreement form with CalAtlantic. Despite the differences in the three Purchase and Sale Agreements, each contract contains a plain and unambiguous agreement to arbitrate claims and disputes related to the construction of properties. The differences in the agreements have no impact on the issues before the Court in this Appeal.

Wantonness; (2) Breach of Warranty of Habitability, Breach of Warranty against Latent Defects, Breach of Warranty of Workmanlike Services, Breach of Warranty for Fitness for a Particular Purpose, Breach of Warranty of Merchantability and Serviceability, and Breach of Express Warranty; (3) violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act; (4) Breach of Fiduciary Duty (against CalAtlantic); and (5) Declaratory Judgement / Reformation (against CalAtlantic and Lennar). (R. 37-48).

On August 1, 2020, CalAtlantic and Lennar answered the Complaint. (R. 50). Thereafter, on December 22, 2020, CalAtlantic and Lennar filed a Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration (the “Motion to Compel Arbitration”), arguing the Association is required to arbitrate its claims against them pursuant to the arbitration provisions in the Covenants and in the Purchase and Sale Agreements executed by the Owners. (R. 65-66). In support of the Motion to Compel Arbitration, CalAtlantic and Lennar attached the Covenants, a copy of a Purchase and Sale Agreement executed by one of the individual Owners, and the Declaration of Tracey Ethridge as exhibits. (R. 70-377).³

On May 7, 2021, without holding a hearing, the circuit court issued an order denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration. (R. 1).⁴ On May 17, 2021, CalAtlantic and Lennar filed a Rule 59

³ In response to the Motion to Compel Arbitration, the Association filed a Memorandum in Opposition and a Motion to Strike the Declaration of Tracey Ethridge. (R. 378; 683).

⁴ The circuit court’s order makes no reference to the Association’s Motion to Strike the Declaration of Tracey Ethridge or the refusal to consider the contents of the Declaration and in fact the court’s order specifically acknowledges that it “conducted a thorough review of the record and analyzed in detail whether the Defendants were entitled to compel arbitration pursuant to the arbitration provisions contained in the Purchase Agreements . . . that were entered into by the individual homeowners.” (R. 12). More than a month after denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration, on June 10, 2021, the Court issued an order striking the Declaration of Tracey Ethridge. (R. 15). Tracey Ethridge’s Declaration is related to the authentication of the CalAtlantic Limited Warranty and CalAtlantic’s practice of providing a copy of that document to the individual owners. (R. 17). There are no arguments in this appeal related to the application of the CalAtlantic Limited Warranty’s arbitration provision; therefore, the circuit court’s order striking the Declaration of Tracey Ethridge has no effect on this appeal.

Motion to Alter or Amend. (R. 714). The circuit court issued an order denying the Motion to Alter or Amend on June 21, 2021. (R. 9). The circuit court erroneously denied both of the motions. In its Orders denying both the Motion to Compel Arbitration and the Rule 59 Motion to Alter or Amend, the circuit court elaborated on its decision and stated:

1. “The Court conducted a thorough review of the record and analyzed in detail whether the Defendants were entitled to compel arbitration pursuant to the arbitration provisions contained in the Purchase Agreements . . . that were entered into by the individual homeowners.” (R. 12).
2. “Plaintiff’s causes of action are brought by the Association under their duty to maintain and keep in good condition the common areas, and alleged defects against the Defendants for the common areas of the property, not for each individual unit.” (R. 6-7).
3. “Defendants contend that Plaintiff must submit to binding arbitration pursuant to arbitration provisions contained in . . . the Purchase Contracts” (R. 3).
4. “Defendants cannot compel the Association to arbitrate pursuant to the arbitration provisions contained in the Purchase Contract . . . because the individual homeowners are not the plaintiffs in this action and are not suing for damages associated with their individual units.” (R. 6).
5. “The relevant inquiry is not the arbitrability of each individual homeowner’s claims against the Defendants . . . it is the arbitrability of the Association’s claims regarding alleged defects in the common areas” (R. 7).
6. “[T]he Court finds the Association did not contractually agree to the arbitration provisions contained in the Purchase Contract. . . [t]herefore, any assertion that the Association is bound to the arbitration provision in [the Purchase Contract] is without merit.” (R. 7).

The circuit court’s Orders afford no recognition to the Association’s express allegation that the Owners assigned their individual claims to the Association, or that the Association alleges it is charged with pursuing the claims enumerated in its Complaint by virtue of having been assigned

the individual claims by the Owners. Furthermore, the circuit court's Orders make no findings as to the enforceability of the arbitration provisions in the Purchase and Sale Agreements or as to the scope of the claims subject to the arbitration provisions in the Purchase and Sale Agreements.

CalAtlantic and Lennar timely filed a Notice of Appeal on July 21, 2021.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether a claim is subject to arbitration is an issue for judicial determination and is subject to *de novo* review. *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, 379, 759 S.E.2d 727, 731 (2014). “It is the policy of this state and federal law to favor arbitration[,] and ‘any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration.’” *Landers v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Co.*, 402 S.C. 100, 109, 739 S.E.2d 209, 213 (2013) (quoting *Am. Recovery Corp. v. Computerized Thermal Imaging, Inc.*, 96 F.3d 88, 92 (4th Cir. 1996)). “[T]he party resisting arbitration bears the burden of proving that the claims at issue are unsuitable for arbitration.” *Hall v. Green Tree Servicing, LLC*, 413 S.C. 267, 271, 776 S.E.2d 91, 94 (Ct. App. 2015) (alteration in original) (quoting *Dean*, 408 S.C. at 379, 759 S.E.2d at 731).

ARGUMENTS

- I. **The circuit court erred in denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration.**
 - A. **The circuit court erred in holding that CalAtlantic and Lennar could not compel arbitration pursuant to the Purchase and Sale Agreements based on the proposition that the Owners are not plaintiffs in the action and are not suing for damages associated with their individual units—although the Association expressly alleges it is “charged with pursuing claims enumerated [in the Complaint] by virtue of having been assigned individual claims by townhome owners at this project.”**

The Association expressly alleges it is pursuing each of the claims enumerated in the Complaint that belong to the Owners and were assigned by those Owners to the Association. (R. 29). By virtue of those assignments which the Association alleges, and its charge to pursue the Owners' claims which were assigned, the Association has stepped into the shoes of those Owners.

Therefore, the Association is bound by the valid and enforceable agreements to arbitrate in the Purchase and Sale Agreements to which its assignors (the individual townhome Owners) are bound and from which they derive their ownership interests.

In ruling on the Motion to Compel Arbitration, the circuit court was required to address two gateway matters: (1) whether an applicable arbitration agreement exists, and (2) whether the specific dispute falls within the scope of the arbitration agreement. *New Hope Missionary Baptist Church v. Paragon Builders*, 379 S.C. 620, 629, 667 S.E.2d 1, 5 (Ct. App. 2008). The circuit court erred in performing the required analysis of each of the gateway matters.

The circuit court erred in its analysis of the first gateway issue by improperly concluding that the Purchase and Sale Agreements did not provide an applicable agreement to arbitrate between the Association and CalAtlantic. The circuit court based its erroneous conclusion on an incomplete analysis and the flawed finding that the “Association did not contractually agree to the arbitration provisions contained in the Purchase Contract[s]” and “the individual homeowners are not the plaintiffs in this action and are not suing for damages associated with their individual units.” (R. 6-7).

The circuit court failed to address the Association’s own allegation that it had been assigned the claims of the Owners and it was pursuing the claims in the lawsuit not only in its own behalf but on behalf of the Owners pursuant to their assignments. Thus, the circuit court failed to conduct any analysis, or make any findings, related to the enforceability of the arbitration provisions in the Purchase and Sale Agreements. For example, the circuit court made no analysis and no finding regarding the scope of claims covered by the arbitration provision in the Purchase and Sale Agreements. Additionally, the circuit court made no finding regarding the enforceability of the actual arbitration provisions in the Purchase and Sale Agreements.

The circuit court's decision, and the rationale for that decision, are plain error because the Association is suing on behalf of the individual Owners, and its claims are not limited to the common elements of the property. Plain evidence in support of these conclusions exists in the Association's Complaint itself. Specifically, the Complaint alleges the Association is "charged with pursuing claims enumerated hereafter by virtue of having been assigned individual claims by townhome owners at this project." (R. 29). First, the enumerated claims in the Complaint include claims belonging only to the individual Owners (not the Association in its own right). Second, the claims enumerated by the Association do not allege only common element defects or damages—and do not exclude damages relating to individual units and Owners. In fact, in the Complaint the Association claims damages related to the cost "to renovate, correct, repair and restore the townhomes, buildings, building components, and common areas" and to "reconstruct major portions of the townhomes", (R. 34-35, 45); as well as, for the "[l]oss of use, enjoyment and depreciations of the value of their property." (R. 35). Thus, on the face of the Complaint, it appears that the Association is pursuing individual townhome owner claims by virtue of the assignment of those claims by the Owners to the Association.

An assignee, such as the Association alleges it is, stands in the shoes of the assignor—the individual Owners. *Moore v. Weinberg*, 373 S.C. 209, 220, 644 S.E.2d 740, 745-46 (Ct. App. 2007), *aff'd*, 383 S.C. 583, 681 S.E.2d 875 (2009). The Association (as an assignee) has the same rights **and obligations** of the individual Owners (the assignor). *See Twelfth RMA Partners, L.P. v. Nat'l Safe Corp.*, 335 S.C. 635, 639-40, 518 S.E.2d 44, 46 (Ct. App. 1999). As an assignee, the Association can have no greater rights on the assigned claims than the individual Owners. *See Murphy v. Jefferson Pilot Commc'ns Co.*, 657 F. Supp. 2d 683, 690 (D.S.C. 2008) (applying South

Carolina law and finding a plaintiff assignee can have no greater rights on the assigned claims than the assignor himself would have had if the assignor chose to pursue the claims).

In this case, the Association has alleged specific claims that may be brought only by the individual Owners; namely, claims related to alleged defects or damages associated with the windows, doors, and HVAC systems at the Project, and the specific claim for breach of the implied warranty of habitability. (R. 38-39; 43). Therefore, by virtue of the alleged assignments, the Association is obligated to arbitrate the assigned claims because the individual Owners are obligated to arbitrate those claims pursuant to the valid and enforceable arbitration provisions in the Purchase and Sale Agreements. *See* 1 DOMKE ON COM. ARB. § 13:18 *Successor in interest—Assignees* (“An assignee cannot resist arbitration on the grounds that it was not a party to the original agreement, as its obligations come from those of the assignor.”).

B. The circuit court erred in holding that “any assertion that the Association is bound to the arbitration provisions in [the Purchase and Sale Agreements] is without merit”—although the Association expressly alleges it is “charged with pursuing claims enumerated [in the Complaint] by virtue of having been assigned individual claims by the individual townhome Owners at this project,” asserts a cause of action for breach of the implied warranty of habitability which, as a matter of law, arises exclusively from the sale of the townhomes to the individual townhome Owners by means of the Purchase and Sale Agreements, and asserts claims and damages in the action related to doors, windows, and HVAC systems, which are expressly defined by the Covenants and the responsibility of the individual townhome Owners and not common elements for the Association.

1. Claims related to the windows, doors, and HVAC belong to the Owners and, absent the alleged assignment of claims by the individual owners, could not be maintained by the Association.

Traditionally, in South Carolina a homeowners’ association has standing to pursue construction defect claims in the common elements that it has a duty to maintain. *Queen's Grant Villas Horizontal Prop. Regimes I-V v. Daniel Int'l Corp.*, 286 S.C. 555, 556, 335 S.E.2d 365, 366 (1985) (“A property regime has standing to bring an action for construction defects in common

elements that the regime has the duty to maintain.”). The common elements of the property are defined or enumerated by the Covenants.

In this case, the Covenants charge the Association with maintaining and keeping the “Area of Common Responsibility” in good condition, order, and repair. (R. 86). The Covenants do not include windows, doors, or the HVAC systems as common elements. Instead, they define the “Area of Common Responsibility” to include:

(i) exterior maintenance of all dwellings including, but not limited to, painting, repairing, replacing and caring for the following:

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