**RECEIVED**

**Jan 18 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2020-CP-10-02398  
Appellate Case No. 2021-000779

---

Whitesides Park Townhomes Property Owners Association, Inc., Respondent,

v.

CalAtlantic Group, Inc., f/k/a The Ryland Group, Inc. f/k/a Standard Pacific Corp. and also d/b/a Calatlantic Homes; Lennar Carolinas, LLC; Southend Exteriors, Inc.; Alpha Omega Construction Group, Inc.; and Fogel Services Inc., Defendants,

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY CONCLUDE CALATLANTIC IS NOT ENTITLED TO ARBITRATION UNDER THE COVENANTS OR THE PURCHASE AGREEMENT AS THEY ARE UNCONSCIONABLE, THE ASSOCIATION LACKED BARGAINING POWER FOR THE ONE-SIDED AGREEMENT, AND CALATLANTIC DID NOT APPEAL THIS CONCLUSION OF LAW.**

#### **A. The circuit court properly found the Covenants as unconscionable, which was not appealed by CalAtlantic.**

The circuit court properly found that the Association was not bound to the arbitration provisions in Covenants as the provisions are unconscionable. (May 7, 2021 Order, p. 4). Specifically, the circuit court analyzed the Covenants and based their findings on evidence that the Association was controlled by CalAtlantic at the time the Covenants were executed (Covenants, p. 45-46). The Covenants were executed on behalf of the Association by CalAtlantic's Operational Vice President and the transaction was not an arms-length transaction. See Magnolia N. Prop. Owners' Ass'n, Inc. v. Heritage Communities, Inc., 397 S.C. 348, 372, 725 S.E.2d 112, 125 (Ct. App. 2012). See Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp., 343 S.C. 531, 539, 542 S.E.2d 360, 363-64 (2001). Unconscionability is defined as "the absence of meaningful choice on the part of one party due to one-sided contract provisions, together with terms that are so oppressive that no reasonable person would make them and no fair and honest person would accept them." Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, 373 S.C. 14, 25 644 S.E.2d 663, 668-69 (2007). However, a crucial step to affirming the circuit court shall be based on the fact CalAtlantic **did not appeal** the circuit court's conclusion of law that the Association was not compelled to arbitrate pursuant to the Covenants. CalAtlantic does not enumerate this in their Statement of Issues on Appeal nor do they raise any arguments as to why the circuit court erred in response in their arguments before the Court. As the circuit court based their factual findings on evidence such as the Covenants, the fact that CalAtlantic entered

into this agreement on behalf of the Association, and the lack of bargaining power of the Association, this Court should affirm the findings of the circuit court. “Determinations of arbitrability are subject to de novo review, but if any evidence reasonably supports the circuit court's factual findings, this court will not overrule those findings.” Stokes v. Metro. Life Ins. Co., 351 S.C. 606, 609-10, 571 S.E.2d 711, 713 (Ct. App. 2002).

**II. CALATLANTIC’S ARGUMENTS IN THEIR INITIAL BRIEF REST ON THE PURPORTED ASSIGNMENT OF CLAIMS RELATED TO THE WINDOW(S), DOOR(S), AND HVAC AND THE PROPER STANDING OF BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF HABITABILITY CLAIMS; HOWEVER, THESE ARGUMENTS ARE NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THIS COURT AND SHOULD NOT BE CONSIDERED AS THEY WERE NOT PROPERLY PRESERVED.**

Prior to addressing the merits of CalAtlantic’s arguments related to the assignment of certain claims and the Association’s cause of action for breach of implied warranty of habitability, the failure of CalAtlantic to raise these issues at the circuit court level or preserve the issue on appeal should obviate the need for the Court to further evaluate these arguments.

**A. CalAtlantic failed to raise the issue of the maintenance responsibilities of specific limited common elements being assigned to the Association at the circuit court level and therefore, this issue was not properly preserved.**

CalAtlantic claims the circuit court erred by not considering the assignment of claims from the homeowners to the Association, including any claims relating to the windows, doors, and HVAC. However, CalAtlantic did not raise these issues at the circuit court level.

“Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide [the Court of Appeals] with a platform for meaningful appellate review.” Queens Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006). “[A]ll that this Court has ever required is that the questions presented for its decision must first have been fairly and properly raised in the lower court and passed upon by that Court.” Sloan v. South Carolina Dep’t of Rev., 409 S.C. 551, 555 n.4, 762

S.E.2d 687, 689 n.4 (2014). “The requirement also serves as a keen incentive for a party to prepare a case thoroughly. It prevents a party from keeping an ace card up his sleeve - intentionally or by chance - in the hope that an appellate court will accept that ace card and, via a reversal, give him another opportunity to prove his case.” I’On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000).

This Court in McCall v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. held that an issue which was not advanced by the appellant but was raised to the circuit court by the respondent was not properly preserved for appellate review. McCall v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 359 S.C. 372, 381-82, 597 S.E.2d 181, 186 (Ct. App. 2004). “An appellate court may not reverse a lower court order based on a legal or factual premise not advanced by the party who lost at the trial court level.” Repko v. Cty. of Georgetown, 424 S.C. 494, 503, 818 S.E.2d 743, 748-49 (2018).

CalAtlantic makes various claims in their initial brief that they did not raise to the circuit court. Specifically, CalAtlantic states that “the circuit court failed to address the Association’s own allegations that it had been assigned the claims of the owners . . .” CalAtlantic makes no reference to the assignment in their Motion to Dismiss or their Motion to Alter or Amend, nor did they advance any argument relating to the assignment of claims. CalAtlantic may not raise any issue on appeal that they did not independently raise at the circuit court. CalAtlantic’s argument for the assignment of claims in their Initial Brief stems from the Association’s mention of the assignment of claims in their Complaint and not CalAtlantic’s own argument. Therefore, the issue regarding the assignment of claims is not properly before this Court on appeal.

Specifically, CalAtlantic states that “[t]he Covenants do not include windows, doors, or the HVAC system as common elements. (Appellants Initial Brief, p. 10). Similar to CalAtlantic’s claim regarding the assignment, CalAtlantic did not advance any arguments relating to the specific

claims of the window(s), door(s), or HVAC anywhere in their Motion to Dismiss or their Motion to Alter or Amend.

In CalAtlantic's Motion to Alter or Amend they argued that the claims of the Association are not limited to the common elements. Their Motion to Alter or Amend states “. . . Whitesides seeks declarations from the Court pertaining to provisions in ‘the Governing Documents and other transaction documents,’ and seeks damages unrelated to common area elements.” (May 18, 2021 Motion, p. 5). This generic statement does not preserve the issue.

A generic statement in the lower court may not preserve a specific argument on appeal. Herron v. Centry BMW, 395 S.C. 461, 468, 719 S.E.2d 640, 644 (2011). This issue was not properly before the circuit court on a Rule 59(e) Motion since the issue relating to the common elements was being raised for the first time.<sup>1</sup> However, even if this Court finds that the issue was properly before the circuit court, the general statement regarding what constitutes common elements is not the specific argument that CalAtlantic made to the circuit court. Therefore, CalAtlantic did not properly present the issues relating to common and non-common elements before the circuit court; thus, CalAtlantic's arguments regarding the common elements, windows, doors, and HVAC are not properly before this Court.

---

<sup>1</sup> A party cannot for the first time raise an issue by way of a Rule 59(e) motion which could have been raised at Circuit. Miller Constr. Co., LLC v. PC Constr. of Greenwood, Inc., 418 S.C. 186, 206, 791 S.E.2d 321, 332 (Ct. App. 2016)

**B. Did the circuit court err by denying CalAtlantic’s motion to dismiss when CalAtlantic did not raise the issue of breach of warranty of habitability at the circuit court level?**

CalAtlantic did not raise the legal issue regarding Breach of Warranty of Habitability to the circuit court, neither in their Motion to Dismiss nor their Motion to Alter or Amend.<sup>2</sup> A party need not state the exact name of a legal doctrine to preserve the issue. See State v. Russell, 345 S.C. 128, 132, 546 S.E.2d 202, 204 (Ct. App. 2001). However, the issue must be abundantly clear as to the precise nature of issue so that the issue can be reasonably understood by the court. Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998).

CalAtlantic made no mention of the claims brought against them, nonetheless the specific claim of breach of warranty of habitability. In the nearly seven months between the Association’s filing of their Complaint including specific causes of action and CalAtlantic’s filing of the Motion to Dismiss, CalAtlantic never raised any defenses to the cause of action for breach of warranty of habitability and did not move to strike this cause of action from the Association's Complaint or file a motion to dismiss this cause of action. Most importantly, CalAtlantic did not raise any arguments regarding any causes of action at the circuit court level at all. Therefore, CalAtlantic’s argument regarding breach of warranty of habitability is not properly before this Court. CalAtlantic did not explicitly or implicitly argue breach of warranty claims.

**C. The Court may only consider evidence in the Record.**

In addition to not raising certain arguments with specificity, CalAtlantic argues that the thirteen homeowners signed Purchase Agreements that were not all identical but “each contract contain[ed] a plain and unambiguous agreement to arbitrate claims . . .” CalAtlantic only produced

---

<sup>2</sup> “An appellate court may not reverse a lower court order based on a legal or factual premise not advanced by the party who lost at the Circuit court level.” Repko, 424 S.C at 505, 818 S.e.2d at 748-49 (2018).

one Purchase Agreement from Alex Brown to the circuit court during the disposition of their Motion to Dismiss, which they claimed as a “representative copy.” (December 22, 2020 Motion, p 2-3). Further, CalAtlantic stated in their Motion to Dismiss that “[s]ome or all owners entered into a Purchase Agreement that specifically provides all disputes are subject to mandatory arbitration.” (December 22, 2020 Motion, p. 2). The alleged twelve (12) other purchase agreements and the argument that they contain plain and unambiguous agreements to arbitrate are not properly before the Court since the circuit court did not get an opportunity to consider the thirteen (13) different Purchase Agreements, but only one.

CalAtlantic filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the circuit court’s denial of their Motion to Compel, which included an additional twelve (12) purchase agreements that CalAtlantic claimed they were not in their possession prior to the April 22, 2021 disposition of the motion. (May 17, 2021 Motion, p. 5, n. 1). This new evidence was not properly before the circuit court on a Rule 59(e) Motion<sup>3</sup>; thus, these purchase agreements are not properly before this Court and should not be considered.

**III. SHOULD THE AGRUMENTS EVEN BE CONSIDERED, THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE ASSOCIATION CANNOT BE COMPELLED TO ARBITRATE UNDER THE PURCHASE AGREEMENT AS THEY WERE NOT PARTIES OR ASSIGNEES TO THE PURCHASE AGREEMENT.**

The Association is not a party to the Purchase Agreement and therefore, the Association cannot be compelled to arbitrate under an arbitration provision of a contract they did not enter into. In South Carolina, an unconscionable provision in a contract is unenforceable. A party may effectively challenge the arbitrability of a given claim based upon general contract defenses including fraud, duress and unconscionability. See Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp., 343 S.C. 531,

---

<sup>3</sup> A party cannot use a Rule 59(e) to present new evidence to the court. See Brailsford v. Brailsford, 380 S.C. 443, 448, 669 S.E.2d 342, 345 (Ct. App. 2008).

539, 542 S.E.2d 360, 363-64 (2001). Unconscionability is defined as “the absence of meaningful choice on the part of one party due to one-sided contract provisions, together with terms that are so oppressive that no reasonable person would make them and no fair and honest person would accept them.” Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, 373 S.C. 14, 25 644 S.E.2d 663, 668-69 (2007). Arbitration will be denied if a court determines no agreement to arbitrate existed. S.C. Code Ann § 15-48-20(a).

The Purchase Agreement is between the homebuyer, Alex Brown, and CalAtlantic and does not include an agreement by the Association to the terms. Arbitration is based in contract and the Association did not enter into the Purchase Agreement, thus the arbitration provisions are unenforceable against the Association. Furthermore, CalAtlantic is not entitled to compel arbitration under the provisions within the Homeowner’s Limited Warranty & Maintenance Manual as the circuit court struck the Declaration of Tracey Ethridge which contained the Homeowner’s Limited Warranty & Maintenance Manual. (June 10, 2021 Order, p. 1-7). CalAtlantic did not appeal the circuit court’s order denying their Motion to Alter or Amend the Order granting the Association’s Motion to Strike; thus, the circuit court’s decision stands. There is no reasonable evidence presented to the circuit court entitling CalAtlantic to arbitration or having the circuit court overruled.

**IV. THE MAINTENANCE RESPONSIBILITIES AND THE STANDING OF THE PROPER PARTY TO BRING THE CLAIMS ARE SET FORTH IN THE COVENANTS AND BY COMMON LAW, NOT THE INDIVIDUAL PURCHASE AGREEMENT.**

However, should the Court consider CalAtlantic’s arguments that because the Association alleges defects with the installation of the windows, doors, and the HVAC system that this obligates them to arbitrate pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Association refers the Court

back to the general proposition that the responsibilities stem from the Covenants, not the Purchase Agreements.

The Association and the individual homeowners received their maintenance responsibilities and their standing to bring claims for the building components they are responsible to maintain through the Covenants, not the Purchase Agreement. CalAtlantic asserts that because the Association is pursuing claims for limited common elements, which are the responsibility of individual homeowners, that the arbitration clause in the Purchase Agreement applies, forcing all of the claims in this underlying construction defect case to be arbitrated.

**A. The rights assigned by the individual homeowners to Association are rights given to the homeowners pursuant to the Covenants.**

CalAtlantic contends that since the Association stated in their Complaint that the Association was pursuing claims for the individual homeowners, the Association must arbitrate all of the claims pursuant to the terms of the individual Purchase Agreements that CalAtlantic allegedly entered into with the individual homeowners. While CalAtlantic did not preserve this issue on Appeal, should this Court consider it, CalAtlantic's argument that the Association is pursuing claims on behalf of homeowners, that flow from the Covenants, binds them to the arbitration provisions in the Purchase Agreement fails as there is no assignment of the Purchase Agreement.

An assignment is the act of transferring to another all or part of one's property, interest or right. Moore v. Weinberg, 373 S.C.209, 219, 644 S.E.2d 740, 745 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing Black's Law Dictionary 119 (6<sup>th</sup>ed. 1992)). Three elements constitute an assignment: (1) an assignor, (2) and assignee; and (3) the transfer of control of the thing assigned from the assignor to the assignee. Donahue v. Multimedia, Inc., 362 S.C. 331, 608 S.E.2d 162, 165 (Ct. App. 2005). South Carolina

jurisprudence has long recognized that a chose in action can be validly assigned in either law or equity. Slater Corp. v. SC Tax Comm'n, 280 S.C. 584, 587, 314 S.E.2d 31, 33 (Ct. App. 1984).

First and foremost, the Association maintains the right to bring claims for the common elements pursuant to the Covenants, which is the crux of the allegations in the Complaint. In CalAtlantic's argument to the Court, their sole focus in attempting to force this matter into arbitration falls on the assigned claims of the homeowners to the Association. CalAtlantic contends that any assignment the Association received from the individual homeowners must be pursuant to the individual homeowners' Purchase Agreement; however, the Association's assignment of any claims the individual homeowners have are pursuant to their rights set forth in the Covenants.

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